ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

Roger M. Young, Circuit Court Judge

**RECEIVED**  
SEP 07 2016  
SC Court of Appeals

Case Nos. 2014-GS-10-00763  
2014-GS-10-00765 and 2014-GS-10-00767

Appellate Case No. 2015-000709

The State, ..... Respondent,  
v.  
Denzel Heyward, ..... Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT**

Donald Michael Mathison, Bar # 101803  
215 S. Holly Street  
Columbia, SC 29205  
T: (843) 384-3761  
Email: [dmichaelmathison@yahoo.com](mailto:dmichaelmathison@yahoo.com)

Robert Michael Dudek  
S.C. Office of Indigent Defense  
P.O. Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the verdicts resulting from the joint-trial of Denzel Heyward and Deshaun Simmons, on whom, Mr. Heyward is the Appellant. The indictments charged Denzel Heyward ("Appellant") with four counts arising out of an incident occurring on John's Island, South Carolina, on May 16, 2012. The counts were for (1) the Murder of Kadeem Chambers, pursuant to S.C. Code §16-3-10 (2014-GS-10-00762); (2) the Attempted Murder of Jujuaïn Hemingway, pursuant to S.C. Code § 16-3-29 (2014-GS-10-00763); (3) Armed Robbery, under S.C. Code § 16-11-330(A) (2014-GS-10-0065); and Possession of a Firearm During the Commission of a Violent Crime, under S.C. Code § 16-23-490 (2014-GS-10-0067). R. pp. 9-14. Mr. Heyward's co-defendant, Deshaun Simmons, was indicted on virtually identical counts.

This matter was originally docketed for February, 2014, but was postponed until the term of court beginning November 10, 2014. The matter was tried from November 10<sup>th</sup> through November 15, 2015.<sup>1</sup> On November 10<sup>th</sup>, the court heard the Appellant's motion to exclude identification testimony by Jujuaïn Hemingway and Appellant's motion to exclude testimony of Quasantrina Rivers regarding episodes of domestic violence involving Rivers and the Appellant. The trial concluded on Friday, November 15, and the jury began deliberations at 5:15 p.m. Tr. Vol. 3, p. 453; R. p. 622.

The jury deliberated for eight hours, and made multiple requests to the court for additional information. During deliberations, the jury submitted notes to the court requesting (1) copies of recorded jailhouse telephone conversations by

---

<sup>1</sup> No proceedings were held on November 11<sup>th</sup>, 2014, in observance of Veteran's Day.

Deshaun Simmons;<sup>2</sup> and (2) copies of the testimony of Jujain Hemingway and Quasantrina Rivers. Court's Exhibits 1 and 5; R. pp. 689 and 693. After seven hours, the jury informed the court that it was deadlocked on four counts.<sup>3</sup> Court's Exhibit 6; R. p. 694; Tr. Vol. 3, p. 461; R. p. 630. The court then gave an Allen charge after which, the jury returned guilty verdicts on the counts for the attempted murder of Jujain Hemingway, armed robbery and the weapons charge. Tr. Vol. 3, p. 462-467; R. pp. 631-636. The jury could not reach a verdict on the murder charge and the court declared a mistrial as to that count. Tr. Vol. 3, p. 470; R. p. 639.

Despite the fact the verdicts were returned at 1:30 a.m. on a Saturday morning, the court proceeded directly to sentencing over defense counsel's objection. Tr. Vol. 3, p. 471; R. p. 640. After hearing victim impact statements, the court sentenced Appellant to the maximum sentence on each conviction for a total of sixty-five (65) years of concurrent time.<sup>4</sup>

Appellant filed post-trial motions, which were denied by Order dated March 17, 2015. Order Denying Post-Trial Motions; R. p. 5-8. The Notice of Appeal was filed on March 23, 2015.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This matter involves incidents occurring in Charleston County in the late hours of May 16, 2012. That evening, Brothers Kadeem Chambers and Jujain

---

<sup>2</sup> The jury also requested copies of the state's argument regarding these telephone conversations, which were not provided.

<sup>3</sup> The court declined to inquire which charges were settled at that time, so it is unknown which counts were first resolved.

<sup>4</sup> 30 years for Attempted Murder; 30 years for Armed Robbery; and 5 years for Possession of a Firearm During the Commission of a Violent Crime. Each of these is the maximum penalty allowed by law. See, S.C. Code Ann. Code § 16-3-29; S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-330(A); S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490, respectively.

Hemingway drove from Longs, South Carolina, to 3475 Cynthia Drive, on John's Island near Charleston. When they arrived just before 11:30 p.m., there was an altercation with two individuals outside the house. During the altercation, one of the subjects, wearing a red shirt, kicked Hemingway in the head, and the other subject fired a round at the ground near him. A female subject attempted to open the trunk of Chambers' car, before Hemingway was instructed to open the trunk of the car himself and get back on the ground. Shortly thereafter, Chambers and the subject holding the weapon "tussled," and two shots were fired. Tr. Vol. 3, p. 149-151, 261-262; R. pp. 414-416, 526-527. Chambers was hit with two bullets. Hemingway fled into a nearby construction site, disposing of "dime bags" of marijuana on the way. Tr. Vol. 3, p. 153-154; R. pp. 418-419. The two assailants left in a dark colored sedan driven by the female.

Charleston County Sherriff's Officers responding to 911 reports of shots fired found Chambers behind the wheel of his Mercedes Benz, which he'd crashed into a white truck near the corner of Cynthia Drive. Tr. Vol. 2, pp. 96-97, 99-100; R. pp. 173-174, 176-177. He was taken to the Medical University of South Carolina, where he passed a few hours later.<sup>5</sup> Officers found Hemingway in a porta-potty at a nearby construction site on Constantine Thorpe Avenue. Hemingway provided a false name and date of birth to officers. Tr. Vol. 3, p. 156; R. p. 421.

On May 17<sup>th</sup>, investigators interviewed Hemingway about the incident in Longs, South Carolina. Hemingway told investigators that he could identify one

---

<sup>5</sup> He had \$648.27 in his pocket at the time. Tr. Vol. 3, p. 37; R. p. 391.

of the participants who was wearing a red shirt. Courts Exhibit 2, Hearing 11/10/14, p. 5; R. p. 663. On the 18<sup>th</sup>, the officers returned with a "six-pack" line-up containing a photograph of the Appellant, Denzel Heyward. Hemingway failed to make an identification. The next day, officers returned to Longs and escorted Hemingway to the local police precinct, where they showed him another six-pack line-up containing a photograph of Heyward. In the second line-up on May 19<sup>th</sup>, Hemingway identified Heyward. However, he failed to identify the Co-Defendants Deshaun Simmons or Quasantrina Rivers. Tr. Vol. 1, p. 128; R. p. 66.

On May 18<sup>th</sup>, Quasantrina Rivers, the mother of Denzel Heyward's daughter, and an alleged accomplice in the incident on May 16<sup>th</sup>, disclosed her involvement to family members who then contacted police. Rivers subsequently turned herself in and was charged with accessory to murder, accessory to attempted murder and accessory to robbery. Tr. Vol. 2, pp. 214-219; R. pp. 229-234. She provided two statements to investigators on May 19, 2012. On July 12, 2012, she entered a proffer agreement with the state, and subsequently gave a greatly revised account of the events on July 17, 2012. Tr. Vol. 2, pp. 300, I. 24-302, I. 10; R. pp. 317-319; Tr. Vol. 2, pp. 305-306; R. pp. 320-321; and Tr. Vol. 2, p. 315; R. p. 330) She was able to get out of jail as a result of signing the proffer and providing the second statement. Tr. Vol. 2, p. 316, II. 4-9; R. p. 331.

#### ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in permitting testimony regarding a highly dubious identification of the Appellant by Jujain Hemingway. The court failed to consider

the appropriate reliability factors set before admitting the identification, which amounts to an abuse of discretion. The evidence was used repeatedly by the state to bolster its case, which significantly impacted a very closely decided trial.

The court also erred in permitting highly prejudicial and irrelevant character evidence to be put before the jury. Testimony regarding the Appellant's violent relationship with his girlfriend and co-defendant was used to depict the Defendant as a wicked abuser without even the slightest relevancy to the questions at issue in this proceeding. The court erred in ruling the Defendant had opened the door, by raising a completely unrelated issue and abused its discretion in failing to prevent the admission of this highly prejudicial evidence.

- I. The Court erred in permitting the in-court identification of the Appellant by Jujain Hemingway, because the court failed to consider the appropriate Biggers reliability factors after determining the identification process was highly suggestive, and relied exclusively on the identifying witness's dishonesty in a prior line-up as the basis for declaring the identification reliable.

In a pretrial hearing held on November 10, 2015, the Appellant challenged the line-up identification made by Jujain Hemingway, pursuant to Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188 (1972). The hearing concerned two photo line-ups provided to Hemingway on May 18<sup>th</sup> and 19<sup>th</sup> and the attendant circumstances of those police interactions.

Charleston County Investigators interviewed Jujain Hemingway at his mother's house on May 17<sup>th</sup>, the day after the events occurred on Cynthia Drive. Hemingway provided details of the incident, including that an individual wearing a

red shirt had kicked him.<sup>6</sup> He indicated the other individual, who fired a rifle shot at the ground near his head, was wearing a white shirt. During the interview, Hemingway's brother indicated to Hemingway that a person named "Fat" was involved in the crime. Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 104, 111, 112, 119; 156-157; R. pp. 42, 49, 50, 57, 94-95. The officers asked him if he knew Fat or Fats. Tr. Vol. 1, p. 167; R. p. 105. In response to questioning, he stated that he could identify the suspects if shown a photograph. Court's Exhibit # 2, p. 5; R. p. 663. Hemingway steadfastly denied at all times that he knew Fat or had any prior knowledge of any person by that name. See, Tr. Vol. 1, p. 158; R. p. 96.

Hemingway failed to identify the Appellant during the line-up conducted at his mother's house on May 18<sup>th</sup>. On the 19<sup>th</sup>, he was taken to the local precinct and shown another line-up. Appellant was the only person that appeared in both line-ups. Hemingway also testified about the effect of seeing the Appellant in both line-ups:

Q. So they came in, they said, hey, we want to take you and have you look at another lineup?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you find it odd that they would have the same person in the lineup that you recognized from the 18th and now he's in the lineup on the 19th?

A. Yeah.

Q. You did find that odd?

A. They had to know something that I didn't know. They had to know something that I didn't. They keep showing me the same picture.

Q. I'm sorry, could you say that again?

A. They had to know something that I didn't know. They kept showing me the same picture.

Q. They had to know something you didn't know if they were showing you the same picture?

A. Yes.

---

<sup>6</sup> Hemingway actually provided two statements on May 17<sup>th</sup>, a 3 page statement and a 6 page statement. Investigators did not believe his first statement and instructed him to start over. Tr. Vol. 1, p. 154; R. p. 92; See Court's Exhibits 1 and 2, Hearing 11/10/14; R. pp. 656-666.

Tr. Vol 1, pp. 177-178; R. pp. 115-116. Hemingway testified that when the police picked him up on the 19<sup>th</sup>, he feared they were going to lock him up for not making an identification. Tr., Vol. 1, p. 156; R. p 94. During the photo line-up conducted at the police station on the 19<sup>th</sup>, Hemingway identified the Appellant, circled his picture and wrote, "I know him as fatt" on the identification form. State's Exhibit 166; R. pp. 671-677.

During status conferences between counsel for the Defendants and the state, photographic line-ups of the Appellant were discussed. On the Friday preceding trial (and the Biggers Hearing) the solicitor's office disclosed for the first time that Hemingway could have identified the Appellant in the initial line-up but declined to do so.<sup>7</sup> Hemingway never told Charleston County Sherriff's personnel that he could have identified the Appellant during the first line-up, nor did the solicitor disclose this fact to defense counsel until the Friday evening before trial, despite prior conferences and communications regarding the photo line-ups. Defense counsel brought this delayed disclosure to the attention of the trial court before the hearing. There was a thorough on the record discussion of the failure to disclose. Tr. Vol. 1, p. 80-96; R. pp. 18-34.

After hearing the testimony, the court ruled that the line-up procedure was unduly suggestive. Nevertheless, the court ruled that the second identification was reliable based on the "unique circumstance" that Hemingway had lied to investigators during the first line-up:

---

<sup>7</sup> Despite a thousand page production, the claim that Hemingway lied to investigators during the first line-up appeared for the first time in a footnote to the State's Pretrial Brief. Tr. Vol. 1, p. 82; R. p. 20.

So even though the lineup procedure combined -- combining the two was unduly suggestive, I don't think it was unreliable because of the unique -- very unique circumstances of Mr. Hemingway stating that he had, in fact, already identified it, but because of his anger and his youth had decided not to share that identification with police. All right. So your motion to suppress that will be denied."

Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 194-195; R. pp. 132-133.

The trial court erred in relying on the witness's dishonesty as the sole indicator of reliability. A criminal defendant may be deprived of due process of law by an identification procedure that is unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable mistaken identification. State v. Moore, 334 S.C. 411, 415, 513 S.E.2d 626, 627 (Ct.App. 1999); *citing* Stovall v. Denno, 388 U.S. 293, 87, S.Ct. 1967, 18 L.Ed.2d 1199 (1967). If a defendant makes a Biggers challenge to an out-of-court identification, the court must evaluate the identification using a two-pronged process. First, the court must determine if the line-up procedure used was unnecessarily suggestive thereby creating a risk of improper identification. If it finds the procedure used is unduly suggestive, the court may nevertheless find that the identification is reliable based on the totality of the circumstances. State v. Moore, 334 S.C. 411, 415, 513 S.E.2d 626, 627-628. The appropriate factors to consider in determining reliability are 1) the opportunity of the witness to view the criminals at the time of the crime; 2) the witness's degree of attention; 3) the accuracy of the witness's prior description; 4) the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation; and 5) the amount of time between the crime and the confrontation. *Id.*

It is beyond dispute that the identification procedure was suggestive, and the solicitor admitted it was problematic. Tr. Vol. 1, p. 192; R. p. 130. The South Carolina Supreme Court has previously found a procedure where a failed photo-identification is followed by another line-up, in which the defendant is the only person included in both confrontations to be suggestive. See State v. Stewart, 275 S.C. 447, 272 S.E.2d 628 (1980). In Stewart, the witness admitted on cross-examination, that the presence of the defendant affected her identification "a little bit." In this case, Hemingway's statements regarding the suggestive nature of the subsequent line-up were much stronger: "They had to know something *that I didn't know. They had to know something that I didn't. They keep showing me the same picture.*" The repeated presentation of Appellant's photographs was tantamount to telling Hemingway: "This is our guy, and we already know it."

In Stewart, the court nevertheless determined the identification was not irreparably tainted by reviewing the reliability factors set forth above. 275 S.C. 447, 451, 272 S.E.2d 628, 630. In this case, the court did not conduct any review using the factors identified in Biggers, or its progeny. Instead, the court relied exclusively on the witness's claim that he lied to investigators at the initial line-up to determine this highly suggestive procedure did not cause irreparable danger of misidentification. Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 193-195; R. pp. 131-132. This was error.

Beyond the obvious contradiction that a lie can form the basis of reliability, the court failed to address the evidence presented by the appellant bearing on the appropriate factors. The Appellant presented considerable evidence bearing on the witness's perception, memory and credibility, which the court did not consider. Failure to evaluate the reliability of an identification in light of the factors identified in Biggers, is a failure to exercise discretion, and amounts to an error of law. State v. Moore, 334 S.C. 411, 513 S.E.2d 626 (Ct. App. 1999).

The incident in question happened at 11:30 p.m. on a stormy night. Hemingway had smoked hallucinogenic drugs a short time before the initial contact. Tr. Vol. 1, p. 164; R. p. 102. Although the incident occurred over the course of five minutes, the witness was face down on the ground for the majority of that time. Tr. Vol. 1, p. 148-49; R. pp. 86-87. The witness claimed that he had an equally good look at both of the assailants [Tr. Vol. 1, p. 147; R. p. 85], but he was unable to identify Deshaun Simmons in a May 19<sup>th</sup> line-up, the date he was supposedly telling the truth. Tr. Vol. 1, p. 161-162; R. pp. 99-100. It is important to note that there was no line-up featuring Simmons on May 18<sup>th</sup>. This highlights the suggestive nature of the duplicate line-ups featuring Appellant.

The admission of the out-of-court identification as well as the in-court identification led to considerable prejudice to the Appellant. This case turned exclusively on the credibility and testimony of two witnesses: Hemingway and Rivers. Both witnesses suffered from contradictions in

their statements; both admitted to lying to investigators; and both had clear motives to conceal the true facts of what occurred on Cynthia Drive that night.<sup>8 9</sup> Accordingly, allowing the in-court identification to create accord in their testimony and bolster Hemingway's credibility was severely detrimental to Appellant's right to a fair trial.

Furthermore, and perhaps more importantly, the prosecution repeatedly used the out-of-court identification to bolster its case. Not only was the out-of-court identification introduced at trial, the solicitor presented it as *two affirmative identifications*. Tr. Vol. 3, pp. 150-176; R. pp. 415-441; Defense counsel's renewed objection appears at p. 168; R. p. 443. At the close of the state's case in chief, it introduced recorded telephone calls of both defendants. State's Exhibit 171, Tr. Vol. 3, p. 331; R. p. 553.<sup>10</sup> In a telephone call from Deshaun Simmons to an unidentified third-party, Simmons repeatedly refers to the victim's identification as pointing to Appellant's guilt. The solicitor highlighted Simmons' comments in her closing arguments:

"[Simmons:] That's why you really need to be keeping up with this case. Dog ain't going nowhere. Too much shit points towards him. *He's saying he ain't even been there and the victim picked him out*

---

<sup>8</sup> Rivers testimony was largely based on what she saw in the rear view mirror of her car. Tr. Vol 2, p. 309; R. p. 324.

<sup>9</sup> In her May 19<sup>th</sup> statement, Rivers stated she was awoken in her car by gun-shots, however in her subsequent statements she stated she was awake when Hemingway and Chambers first arrived. Tr. Vol. 2, p. 305-306; R. pp. 320-321.

<sup>10</sup> At the time the recording was initially played, defense counsel could not make out the content of the telephone call due to the quality of the recording. Although the state disclosed dozens of hours of telephone conversations by both Defendants, it only pin-pointed the calls made by Appellant that it was going to use at trial. Simmons' calls were provided as hours of undifferentiated conversations. See, Motion for New Trial Based on Impermissible Bruton Testimony; R pp. 649-653; Tr. Vol. 3, p. 471; R. p. 640.

*of a lineup, the victim. The victim, the victim.* That's going to make you look stupid.

[Third Party:] That's what that N say? He say he ain't been there?  
[Simmons:] From my understanding, y'all trying to tell you and everybody else he ain't been there and he ain't did this and he ain't did that, but everything is pointing towards him . . .”

The solicitor hammered the line-ups again in her closing arguments—both the out-of-court identifications [Tr. Vol., 3, p. 427; R. p. 615] and Simmons’s conversations about the line-ups. Tr. Vol. 3, pp. 429, 431-432; R. pp. 617, 619-620.<sup>11</sup>

The jury paid close attention to the phone call testimony, and repeatedly requested copies of the telephone calls *and* the solicitor’s arguments regarding the calls. Court’s Exhibits 1, 3 and 5; R. pp. 689, 691, 693. It must have played a large part in their decision.

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