ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

The Honorable Roger M. Young, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-000709

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

DENZEL MARQUISE HEYWARD

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. CLAYTON MITCHELL
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

SFP 12 2016

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

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

The photo lineups were properly admitted.²

In so far as Appellant challenges the admission of the photo lineups into evidence, the record fully support Judge Young's ruling that the identification was reliable. Hemingway had ample opportunity to view Appellant as evidenced by his testimony that the he had between five and ten minutes to observe Appellant. (R. p. 107). Hemingway noted he stood very close to Appellant when he was asked to open the trunk of the Mercedes. (R. p. 86-87). Hemingway testified he was able to get a "good look" at Appellant because he was right in his face. (R. p. 85). Hemingway emphasized he was able to identify Appellant because of certain distinctive facial characteristics. In his statement to investigators, Hemingway described Appellant to be around 6 foot, 1 inch, wearing a red shirt, low hair cut with a beard. (R. p. 40). He further described the suspect as a black male with facial hair and approximated his weight at 200 pounds. (R. p. 41). As to the degree of certainty factor, Appellant again highlighted the fact that Appellant was near him and was "was in my face." (R. p. 107, lines 7-9). The time between the confrontation and the identification was relatively short. The incident took place the night of May 17 and in the early morning hours of May 18, 2012. The lineups were presented to Appellant on May 18th and May 19, 2012. (R. p. 42; p. 61-62).

Appellant argues that the lineup was not reliable because Hemingway's testimony was not credible. It is clear Judge Young found Hemingway's testimony to be credible since he partially based his ruling it. This Court should not disturb that finding. "We give

² In his brief, Appellant frames his argument challenging Hemingway's *in-court* identification of Appellant and does not seem to challenge the admission of the photo lineups into evidence. Hemingway testified extensively at trial but did not give a classic in-court identification. He was not asked to identify or point out Appellant during his testimony. Hemingway does identify Appellant through the admission of the photo lineups. Respondent questions whether Appellant has properly presented this issue for this Court's review and focuses the argument on whether the photo lineups were properly admitted.

great deference to a judge's findings when matters of credibility are involved since we lack the opportunity to directly observe the witnesses." Solomon v. State, 313 S.C. 526, 443 S.E.2d 540, 542 (1994). While Hemingway gave a less detailed statement and told investigators that he did not recognize any individuals in the first photo lineup, Judge Young excused these actions and found the identification reliable because of "the unique – very unique circumstances" concerning Hemingway's justifications. (R. p. 132-133). According to Hemingway, the fact that Appellant was in both lineups did not have any impact on him in making the identification. (R. p. 116). Therefore, based on the totality of the circumstances Hemingway's in-court identification of Appellant was reliable.

Appellant cites State v. Stewart³ in support of his argument that the identification should have been suppressed. Stewart is instructive because it reiterates that suggestiveness alone does not require the exclusion of evidence and sets out the appropriate factors to consider as addressed above. Id at 450, 272 S.E.2d at 629; see Perry v. New Hampshire, ___ U.S. ___, ___, 132 S. Ct. 716, 720 (2012), 132 S. Ct. at 728 ("[T]he jury, not the judge, traditionally determines the reliability of evidence."); see also State v. Brown, 356 S.C. at 504, 589 S.E.2d at 785 ("Reliability is the linchpin in determining the admissibility of identification testimony."). The facts here are more suited to admission than those in Stewart. In Stewart, the witness testified she had a full view of the appellant, she gave an accurate description, and only two weeks had passed since the robbery. Here, Hemingway similarly had a full, up close view of Appellant, gave an accurate description and was shown the lineups just in the two days following the incident. Here, there was not a substantial likelihood of misidentification such that it should be excluded entirely. See Harker v. Maryland, 800 F.2d 437, 443 (4th Cir. 1983)

³ 275 S.C. 447, 272 S.E.2d 628 (1980).

(characterizing the exclusion of identification evidence from trial as a “drastic sanction” that should only be employed where the reliability of the evidence is “manifestly suspect”). Judge Young properly allowed the jury to weigh the evidence concerning the identification.

Furthermore, Appellant did not suffer any prejudice by having the lineups admitted into evidence. Defense counsel were able to cross examine Hemingway extensively on both the suggestiveness and the reliability of the lineups. See State v. Liverman, 398 S.C. 130, 143-44, 727 S.E.2d 422, 428-29 (2012) (finding any error in the admission of identification evidence to be harmless where the reliability of the identification evidence was fully vetted at trial, the weaknesses in the evidence were exposed on cross-examination, and defense counsel reminded the jury of those weaknesses during closing arguments). Counsel Apostolou highlighted the fact that Hemingway failed to identify Appellant in the first lineup that contained his photo. (R. p. 456-58). Counsel Apostolou also reminding Hemingway of his testimony from the Biggers hearing where he stated he felt like the “police must know something because they keep showing you the same guy; is that correct?” (R. p. 458). This identification was also cumulative to the eyewitness testimony given by Rivers which was more consistent.

II.

Although not preserved, the State properly introduced evidence of Appellant's abusive relationship with his girlfriend, Rivers, to explain and rebut testimony elicited by Appellant's attorney that Rivers was abused and mentally unstable. Furthermore, any alleged error is insubstantial and not sufficient to warrant reversal of Appellant's conviction because there is overwhelming evidence of his guilt.

How the Issue Arose Below

After the Biggers hearing was completed, the parties took up the issue of whether evidence regarding Appellant and Rivers' would be admissible. (R. p. 138-150). Counsel Apostolou brought it to Judge Young's attention that there had been allegations made by Rivers that Appellant physically abused her in the past. (R. p. 138). Counsel Apostolou hoped to have excluded any testimony regarding any prior bad acts. (R. p. 138-39). Solicitor Shealy laid out her position that Appellant had control over Rivers and that she was "sort of under the spell of Denzel Heyward." (R. p. 139). Judge Young noted that an incident that happened the night of the incident would be different than an incident months prior. (R. p. 142-43). Judge Young cautioned that he had not been presented with any argument to support the allegation's admission pursuant to Rule 404(b), SCRE. (R. p. 145). Judge Young also noted that the door could be opened by the defense which would make the evidence admissible. (R. p. 146-47).

Sidearis Singleton, Rivers' mother, she testified for the State at trial. (R. p. 227). She was called to recount her conversation with Rivers where she told her to turn herself in to the authorities after learning what happened. (R. p. 231). On cross examination, Counsel Apostolou opening his questioning of Singleton on whether she was aware Rivers had attempted suicide. (R. p. 239). He continued and asked questions about whether Singleton was aware that Rivers had been abused. (R. p. 239). After an

objection to a question regarding whether Singleton knew Rivers was a stripper, Counsel Apostolou argued the question was relevant to Rivers' mental state. (R. p. 240-41).

On redirect, Singleton explained that Appellant is the one who abused Rivers physically, not her father. (R. p. 248). Singleton testified there were physical signs of abuse such as missing hair and a busted lip. (R. p. 249). She explained that Rivers was abused more than once. (R. p. 250). Quasantrina Rivers testified following her mother. (R. p. 254). Rivers explained she endured a violent relationship with Appellant as the aggressor. (R. p. 255).

Discussion

This issue is not preserved.

First, Respondent this issue is not preserved because no objection was made to this testimony. Appellant bears the burden of presenting an adequate record sufficiently complete so the appellate court is able to review the lower court's actions. State v. Knighton, 334 S.C. 125, 136, 512 S.E.2d 117, 123 (Ct. App. 1999). An argument not raised to and ruled on by the trial court is not preserved for appeal. State v. Nichols, 325 S.C. 111, 481 S.E.2d 118 (1997) (objection must be entered on a specific ground at trial to preserve an appeal); Humbert v. State, 345 S.C. 332, 548 S.E.2d 862 (2001). "The objection should be addressed to the trial court in a sufficiently specific manner that brings attention to the exact error." State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005). The exact name of the legal doctrine employed does not need to be used to preserve an argument, but it must be clear that the argument has been presented on that ground. State v. Russell, 345 S.C. 128, 546 S.E.2d 202 (Ct. App. 2001).

In response to Counsel Apostolou's questioning on whether she knew Rivers had been abused, Solicitor Shealy asked Singleton who had abused Rivers. (R. p. 247-48). Counsel Apostolou voiced an objection and an off the record bench conference was held. (R. p. 248). Counsel Apostolou did not make a specific argument in support of his objection. Respondent recognizes that an argument was likely articulated at the bench conference, but the objection must be made on the record at some point. State v. Hamilton, 344 S.C. 344, 543 S.E.2d 586 (Ct. App. 2001) (An objection made during an off-the-record conference and not made part of the record does not preserve the question for review.) *overruled on other grounds by* State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005).

Furthermore, no objection was made during Rivers testimony on direct examination. Rivers testified that her relationship with Appellant "included some violence." (R. p. 255-56). Rivers briefly testified that she was subject to abuse by Appellant. (R. p. 256). As no objection was made when this testimony was received, the issue is not preserved for review.

The testimony that Appellant had abused Rivers in the past was properly admitted because the door was opened.

Even if preserved, the testimony was properly admitted. During cross examination of Singleton, Counsel Apostolou opened the door to the issue of abuse. A party will be unsuccessful in opposing the admission of evidence if that party was the one who opened the door. State v. Robinson, 305 S.C. 469, 409 S.E.2d 404 (1991). When a party introduces evidence about a particular matter, the other party is entitled to explain it or rebut it, even if the latter evidence would have been incompetent or irrelevant had it been offered initially. State v. Foster, 354 S.C. 614, 582 S.E.2d 426 (2003). A party will be

unsuccessful in opposing the admission of evidence if that party was the one who opened the door. State v. Robinson, 305 S.C. 469, 409 S.E.2d 404 (1991). “Whether a person opens the door to the admission of otherwise inadmissible evidence during the course of a trial is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge.” State v. Page, 378 S.C. 476, 483, 663 S.E.2d 357, 360 (Ct. App. 2009) (citations omitted).

The State properly elicited testimony from Singleton and Rivers to explain whether she was abused. The questioning of Singleton and Rivers was proper because the State is entitled to explain the circumstances surrounding whether Rivers was abused. Appellant argues for a much narrower construction of the “opening the door” doctrine. Appellant argues the State was limiting in clarifying the one instance of sexual abuse alleged by Counsel Apostolou. The State was not limited to just explaining the allegation of sexual abuse supposedly made by Rivers. The State was properly allowed to give a full and fair context of the abuse. Counsel Apostolou also opened the door to Rivers’ mental health and state of mind when he asked whether Singleton knew Rivers had attempted suicide. The State was permitted to also explain why Rivers was not in a stable mental state which allowed it to introduce evidence that Appellant was physically abusive.

Appellant also argues the evidence was not admissible pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE. As discussed above, no objection was made, so we are unable to speculate as to what Judge Young would have ruled had such an objection been made. Regardless, the evidence of an abusive relationship would have survived an objection under Rule 403 because the probative value is not substantially outweighed by any unfair prejudice. It is not likely the jury would have presumed Appellant planned a robbery and partook in a

murder because he was physical with his girlfriend. The evidence is also probative and necessary to explain the allegation raised by Counsel Apostolou.

Any error was harmless in light of the significant evidence proving Appellant's guilt.

Additionally, there is overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt. The fact that Hemingway and Rivers' version of events were so consistent prevents this Court from finding any prejudice. It was established that Appellant was wearing a red shirt by both Hemingway and Rivers. (R. p. 274; R. p. 158). An analysis of Appellant's phone done by Willis Walker placed Appellant at the scene. (R. p. 539-40). Lorenzo's mother, Lockhart-Carter also placed Appellant at the scene. (R. p. 218). It was also corroborated that Fat is Appellant's nickname. (R. p. 222-23; p. 235; p. 248; p. 326). Kadeem, as he was about to pass away, told first responders that Fat is the one who shot him. (R. p. 187).

III.

While the issue is not properly preserved, Judge Young acted within his discretion in proceeding to sentencing after the jury rendered their verdict in the early morning hours. Judge Young also was free to consider the victim impact presentation.

Finally, Appellant argues his due process rights were violated by being sentenced after the jury had deliberated into the early morning hours. Appellant further asserts he was not given adequate notice of the materials the victims would present to Judge Young.

How the Issue Arose Below

Judge Young instructed the jury and then dismissed the panel to deliberate the verdicts at 5:25 pm. (R. p. 622). A note from the jury was received at 7:44 pm. (R. p. 622). The jury wanted to rehear certain testimony and arguments. (R. p. 622). Judge Young brought the jury back in at 8:04 p.m. to inform them that they would be provided

the audio testimony of Rivers and Hemingway but would not be able to rehear closing arguments made by the attorneys. (R. p. 626-628). Another note was received informing the court that the jury was in agreement on four counts. (R. p. 630). Judge Young then gave the jury a moderate Allen charge encouraging the jurors to consider their fellow jurors' opinions of the case. (R. p. 631-634). Counsel Apostolou noted an objection to the charge before it was given. (R. p. 630).

At 1:08 a.m. the court received a note from the jury stating they could not reach an agreement on some charges. (R. p. 634). The jurors were instructed to complete the verdict forms. (R. p. 635). Appellant and Simmons were convicted of attempted murder, armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. (R. p. 636). The jury was dismissed at 1:30 a.m. (R. p. 639). Judge Young declared a mistrial on the two murder charges. (R. p. 639).

Counsel Apostolou asked Judge Young to: "defer sentencing due to the hour to the extent we've all been here." (R. p. 640). Solicitor Shealy asked Judge Young to go ahead with sentencing because the victim's family was in town from Longs, South Carolina and one family member had to be at work later that afternoon. (R. p. 641). Judge Young proceeded with sentencing. (R. p. 641).

Discussion

First, this issue is not preserved for this Court's review. Counsel Apostolou did not object to Judge Young conducting sentencing at such a late hour as a violation of his due process rights. Appellant argues on appeal that his due process rights were violated because the sentencing hearing was held at 1:30 a.m. Appellant also argues he was not

provided ample notice of the victim impact testimony to prepare a mitigation presentation.

Preservation

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